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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (the “Form 10-Q”) includes statements of our expectations, intentions, plans, and beliefs that constitute
“forward-looking statements.” These forward-looking statements are principally, but not solely, contained in the section captioned
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” These statements include, but are not limited to,
statements about our strategies, plans, objectives, expectations, intentions, expenditures and assumptions and other statements contained herein
that are not historical facts. Our forward-looking statements are generally, but not always, accompanied by words such as “estimate,” “project,”
“predict,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “potential,” “should,” “will,” “may,” “plan,” “goal,” “can,” “could,” “continuing,” “ongoing,”
“intend” or other words that convey the uncertainty of future events or outcomes. We have based these forward-looking statements on our
current expectations and projections about future events and financial, market and business trends. The matters discussed in these forwardlooking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those
projected, anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. Many of these risks, uncertainties and other factors are beyond our ability to
control, influence, or predict. The most significant of these risks, uncertainties and other factors are described in “Item 1A—Risk Factors” in
Part II of this Form 10-Q, in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2019filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”) on August 8, 2019 and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2019filed with the SEC on
May 20, 2019. As a result, investors are urged not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. These forward-looking
statements reflect our views and assumptions only as of the date such forward-looking statements were made. Except to the limited extent
required by applicable law, we undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1: Consolidated Financial Statements
Anterix Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

September 30,
2019
(Unaudited)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $20 and $77, respectively
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Right of use assets, net
Intangible assets
Capitalized patent costs, net
Equity method investment
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Restructuring reserve
Due to related parties
Operating lease liabilities
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Deferred revenue
Deferred income tax
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 10,000,000 shares authorized and no shares
outstanding at September 30, 2019 and March 31, 2019
Common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 100,000,000 shares
authorized and 17,125,938 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2019 and 14,739,145
shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2019
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

$
$

$

March 31, 2019
(Audited)

157,494
136
650
158,280
8,649
7,217
107,745
177
29
804
282,901

$

3,641
1,755
114
1,687
763
7,960

$

$

76,722
444
1,180
78,346
9,830
—
107,548
184
—
845
196,753
5,106
2,758
183
—
792
8,839

7,844
3,097
1,148
370
20,419

—
3,466
685
2,999
15,989

—

—

2
447,845
(185,365)
262,482
282,901 $

1
349,227
(168,464)
180,764
196,753
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Anterix Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(dollars in thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

Three months ended September 30,
2019
2018

Operating revenues
Service revenue
$
Spectrum revenue
Other revenue
Total operating revenues
Operating expenses
Direct cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and
amortization)
General and administrative
Sales and support
Product development
Depreciation and amortization
Stock compensation expense (exclusive of restructuring related
costs)
Restructuring costs
Impairment of long-lived assets
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income
Other income (expenses)
Income on equity method investment
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense
$
Net loss
Net loss per common share basic and diluted
$
Weighted-average common shares used to compute basic
and diluted net loss per share

241
182
—
423

$

699
4,557
759
555
636
1,412
50
—
8,668
(8,245)
634
52
15
(7,544)
171
(7,715) $
(0.46) $
16,634,154

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1,295
182
347
1,824

Six months ended September 30,
2019
2018

$

1,139
4,635
864
568
716
1,904
4,147
—
13,973
(12,149)
370
(1)
—
(11,780)
—
(11,780) $
(0.81) $
14,521,148

512
364
—
876

$

1,617
9,405
1,973
1,236
1,277
2,989
160
—
18,657
(17,781)
988
152
15
(16,626)
463
(17,089) $
(1.09) $
15,702,673

2,642
364
688
3,694
2,625
9,093
2,487
1,199
1,445
2,960
8,122
531
28,462
(24,768)
686
—
—
(24,082)
—
(24,082)
(1.66)
14,501,463
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Anterix Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
(dollars in thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)
Number of Shares
Preferred
stock
Common
series AA
stock

Preferred
stock
series AA

Additional
paid-in
capital

Common
stock

Accumulated
deficit

Total

Balance at June 30, 2019
Issuance of stock during July
2019 follow-on offering, net of
closing costs
Equity based compensation*
Stock option exercises
Shares withheld for taxes
Net loss
Balance at September 30, 2019

—

14,840,113 $

— $

1 $

352,193 $

(177,650) $

174,544

—
—
—
—
—
—

2,222,223
55,844
15,000
(7,242)
—
17,125,938 $

—
—
—
—
—
— $

1
—
—
—
—
2 $

94,243
1,412
301
(304)
—
447,845 $

—
—
—
—
(7,715)
(185,365) $

94,244
1,412
301
(304)
(7,715)
262,482

Balance at March 31, 2019
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle
Balance at April 1, 2019
Issuance of stock during July
2019 follow-on offering, net of
closing costs
Equity based compensation*
Stock option exercises
Shares withheld for taxes
Net loss
Balance at September 30, 2019

—

14,739,145 $

— $

1 $

349,227 $

(168,464) $

180,764

—
—

—
14,739,145

—
—

—
1

(188)
349,039

188
(168,276)

—
180,764

—
—
—
—
—
—

2,222,223
80,697
94,323
(10,450)
—
17,125,938 $

—
—
—
—
—
— $

1
—
—
—
—
2 $

94,243
2,989
2,020
(446)
—
447,845 $

—
—
—
—
(17,089)
(185,365) $

94,244
2,989
2,020
(446)
(17,089)
262,482

* includes restricted shares
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Anterix Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
(dollars in thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

Number of Shares
Preferred
stock
Common
series AA
stock

Balance at June 30, 2018
Equity based compensation*
Stock option exercises
Shares withheld for taxes
Net loss
Balance at September 30, 2018

Balance at March 31, 2018
(As Restated)
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle
Balance at April 1, 2018
Equity based compensation*
Stock option exercises
Shares withheld for taxes
Net loss
Balance at September 30, 2018

Preferred
stock
series AA

Additional
paid-in
capital

Common
stock

Accumulated
deficit

Total

—
—
—
—
—
—

14,509,557 $
23,898
40,662
(850)
—
14,573,267 $

— $
—
—
—
—
— $

1 $
—
—
—
—
1 $

339,479 $
3,657
821
(27)
—
343,930 $

(138,773) $
—
—
—
(11,780)
(150,553) $

200,707
3,657
821
(27)
(11,780)
193,378

—

14,487,650 $

— $

1 $

335,767 $

(127,239) $

208,529

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
14,487,650
50,068
40,849
(5,300)
—
14,573,267 $

—
—
—
—
—
—
— $

—
1
—
—
—
—
1 $

—
335,767
7,477
825
(139)
—
343,930 $

768
(126,471)
—
—
—
(24,082)
(150,553) $

768
209,297
7,477
825
(139)
(24,082)
193,378

* includes restricted shares
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Anterix Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(dollars in thousands)
(Unaudited)
Six months ended September 30,
2019
2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used
by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash compensation expense attributable to stock awards
Deferred income taxes
Bad debt expense
Loss on disposal of assets
Impairment of long-lived assets
Equity method investment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Right of use assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Restructuring reserve
Due to related parties
Operating lease liabilities
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Net cash used by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of intangible assets
Purchases of equipment
Net cash used by investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from July 2019 follow-on offering
Proceeds from stock option exercises
Payments of withholding tax on net issuance of restricted stock
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of the year
End of the year
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid during the period:
Taxes paid
Non-cash investing activity:
Contribution of capital equipment to LLC
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

(17,089)

$

(24,082)

1,277
2,989
463
49
74
—
(15)

1,445
7,477
—
161
14
531
—

381
—
546
698
(1,247)
(1,537)
(69)
(661)
(397)
(5)
(14,543)

(204)
173
173
—
(741)
3,192
(171)
—
(406)
225
(12,213)

(202)
(301)
(503)

(936)
(211)
(1,147)

94,244
2,020
(446)
95,818
80,772

—
825
(139)
686
(12,674)

$

76,722
157,494

$

98,318
85,644

$

21

$

5

$

14

$

—
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Anterix Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)
1.

Nature of Operations
Anterix Inc. (formerly known as pdvWireless, Inc., the “Company”) is a wireless communications company focused on empowering the
modernization of critical infrastructure and enterprise business communications by enabling broadband connectivity. The Company’s
foundational spectrum provides the ability to transform its customers’ operations to meet new business complexities while achieving
higher levels of performance and safety. The Company is the largest holder of licensed spectrum in the 900 MHz band (896-901/935-940
MHz) with nationwide coverage throughout the contiguous United States, Hawaii, Alaska and Puerto Rico. On average, the Company
holds approximately 60% of the channels in the 900 MHz band in the top 20 metropolitan market areas in the United States. The Company
is currently pursuing a regulatory proceeding at the Federal Communications Commission (the “FCC”) that seeks to modernize and realign
the 900 MHz band by allowing it to be utilized for the deployment of broadband networks, technologies and solutions.
The Company was originally incorporated in California in 1997 and reincorporated in Delaware in 2014. In November 2015, the
Company changed its name from Pacific DataVision, Inc. to pdvWireless, Inc. On August 6, 2019, the Company changed its name from
pdvWireless, Inc. to Anterix Inc. The Company maintains offices in Woodland Park, New Jersey and McLean, Virginia.
Historically, the Company generated revenue principally from its pdvConnect and TeamConnect businesses. pdvConnect is a mobile
communication and workforce management solution. The Company historically marketed pdvConnect primarily through two Tier 1
carriers in the United States. In Fiscal 2016, it began offering a commercial push-to-talk (“PTT”) service, which was marketed as
TeamConnect, in seven major metropolitan areas throughout the United States, including Atlanta, Baltimore/Washington, Chicago, Dallas,
Houston, New York and Philadelphia. It primarily offered the TeamConnect service to customers indirectly through third-party sales
representatives who were primarily selected from Motorola’s nationwide dealer network.
In June 2018, the Company announced its plan to restructure its business to align and focus its business priorities on its spectrum
initiatives aimed at modernizing and realigning the 900 MHz band to increase its usability and capacity, including for the future
deployment of broadband and other advanced technologies and services. In December 2018, the Company’s board of directors approved
the transfer of the Company’s TeamConnect business and support for its pdvConnect business.
In July 2019, the Company completed a registered follow-on offering in which it sold 2,222,223 shares of its common stock at a purchase
price to the public of $45.00 per share. Net proceeds were approximately $94.2 million after deducting $5.5 million in underwriting
discounts and commissions, and $0.3 million in offering expenses.

2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates
The unaudited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”) for interim financial information. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual consolidated
financial statements prepared in accordance with US GAAP have been condensed or omitted.
Because certain information and footnote disclosures have been condensed or omitted, these unaudited consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019, as filed on May 20, 2019 with the SEC. In the Company’s opinion all normal and
recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the
periods presented have been included. The Company believes that the disclosures made in the unaudited consolidated interim financial
statements are adequate to make the information not misleading. The results of operations for the interim periods presented are not
necessarily indicative of the results for the year. The Company is also required to make certain estimates with regard to the valuation of
awards and forfeiture rates for its share-based award programs. New estimates in the period relate to determining the Company’s estimated
incremental borrowing rate in recognizing right of use assets and operating lease liabilities. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed
periodically, and the effects of revisions are reflected in the financial statements in the applicable period. Accordingly, actual results could
materially differ from those estimates.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, including PDV Spectrum
Holding Company, LLC formed in April 2014. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.
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Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation of the corresponding amounts in the financial statements
for the three and six months ended September 30, 2019. These reclassifications had no effect on previously reported net loss or net loss
per common share basic and diluted.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
All highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase are considered cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates the quoted market value and include amounts held in money market funds.
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are wireless licenses that will be used to provide the Company with the exclusive right to utilize designated radio
frequency spectrum to provide wireless communication services. While licenses are issued for only a fixed time, generally ten years, such
licenses are subject to renewal by the FCC. License renewals have occurred routinely and at nominal cost in the past. There are currently
no legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic or other factors that limit the useful life of the Company’s wireless licenses. As a
result, the Company has determined that the wireless licenses should be treated as an indefinite-lived intangible asset. The Company will
evaluate the useful life determination for its wireless licenses each year to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support
their treatment as an indefinite useful life asset.
The licenses are tested for impairment annually on an aggregate basis, as the Company will be utilizing the wireless licenses on an
integrated basis as part of developing broadband. In Fiscal 2019, the Company performed a step one quantitative impairment test to
determine if the fair value is greater than carrying value. Estimated fair value is determined using a market-based approach. There are no
triggering events indicating impairment in the six months ended September 30, 2019.
Long-Lived Asset and Right of Use Asset Impairment
The Company evaluates long-lived assets, including right of use assets, other than intangible assets with indefinite lives, for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group may not be recoverable. Asset groups are
determined at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other groups of assets and
liabilities. When the carrying amount of the asset groups are not recoverable and exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized
equal to the excess of the asset group’s carrying value over the estimated fair value.
Equity Method Investment
The Company’s 19.5% investment in TeamConnect LLC (“LLC”) for which the Company is not the primary beneficiary and does not
influence or control the activities that most significantly impact the LLC’s economic performance, are not consolidated and are accounted
for under the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the LLC’s accounts are not reflected within the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets and statements of operations. The Company's share of the earnings of the LLC is reported as
income (loss) on equity method investment in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The Company’s carrying value in an
equity method investment is reported as equity method investment on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
If the Company’s carrying value in an equity method is reduced to zero, no further losses are recorded in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements unless the Company guarantees obligations of the LLC or commits additional funding. When the LLC subsequently
reports income, the Company will not record its share of such income until it equals the amount of its share of losses not previously
recognized.
Leases
Leases in which the Company is the lessee are comprised of corporate office space and tower space. Substantially all of the leases are
classified as operating leases. The Company is obligated under certain lease agreements for office space with lease terms expiring on
various dates from October 14, 2025 through June 30, 2027, which includes a ten-year lease extension for its corporate headquarters. The
Company entered into multiple lease agreements for tower space related to its spectrum holdings.
In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board, (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-02 Leases (“ASC
842”), the Company recognized right of use (“ROU”) assets and corresponding lease liabilities on its Consolidated Balance Sheet for its
operating lease agreements. The Company elected the package of practical expedients for its long-term operating leases, which permits the
Company not to reassess under the new standard the prior conclusions about lease identification, lease classification and initial direct
costs. See Note 9 – Leases for further discussion, including the impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and required
disclosures.
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Income Taxes
The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets
and liabilities as well as from net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities from a change
in income tax rates is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is established when it
is estimated that it is more likely than not that the tax benefit of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.
Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized when a contract with a customer exists and control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the
customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services and
the identified performance obligation has been satisfied.
A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer and is the unit of account in
Accounting Standards Update 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, (“ASC 606”). A contract’s transaction price is allocated
to each distinct performance obligation and is recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied, which typically
occurs when the services are rendered. Determining whether products and services are considered distinct performance obligations that
should be accounted for separately versus together may require significant judgment. The Company’s contracts with customers may
include multiple performance obligations. For such arrangements, the Company allocates revenue to each performance obligation based on
its relative standalone selling price. It generally determines standalone selling prices based on the prices charged to customers under
contracts involving only the relevant performance obligation. Judgment may be used to determine the standalone selling prices for items
that are not sold separately, including services provided at no additional charge. Most of the Company’s performance obligations are
satisfied over time as services are provided.
The Company recognizes an asset for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer if it expects the benefit of those costs to
be longer than one year. The Company has determined that certain sales commissions meet the requirements to be capitalized and have
been recorded as an asset upon the Company’s adoption of ASC 606. As a result of the customers being assigned to A BEEP and
Goosetown (see Note 3 below), the Company’s capitalized sales commissions were impaired on April 1, 2019.
Stock Compensation
The Company accounts for stock options in accordance with US GAAP, which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation
expense, based on the estimated fair value of awards granted to consultants, employees and directors. The Company estimates the fair
value of share-based awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately
expected to vest is recognized as expense in the Company’s statements of operations over the requisite service periods. In the event the
participant’s employment by or engagement with (as a director or otherwise) the Company terminates before exercise of the options
granted, the stock options granted to the participant shall immediately expire and all rights to purchase shares thereunder shall immediately
cease and expire and be of no further force or effect, other than applicable exercise rights for vested shares that may extend past the
termination date as provided for in the participant’s applicable option award agreement. Additionally, the Compensation Committee
adopted an Executive Severance Plan (the “Severance Plan”) in February 2015, which was amended in February 2019, and the Company
subsequently entered into Severance Plan Participation Agreements with its executive officers and certain key employees. In addition to
providing participants with severance payments, the Severance Plan provides for accelerated vesting and extends the exercise period for
outstanding equity awards if the Company terminates a participant’s service for reasons other than cause, death or disability or the
participant terminates his or her service for good reason, whether before or after a change of control (each of such terms as defined in the
Severance Plan).
To calculate option-based compensation, the Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company’s determination of fair
value of option-based awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model is affected by assumptions regarding a number of
subjective variables.
The fair value of restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance units are measured based upon the quoted closing market price for
the stock on the date of grant. The compensation cost for the restricted stock and restricted stock units is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period. The compensation cost for the performance units is recognized when the performance criteria are expected to be
complete.
No tax benefits have been attributed to the share-based compensation expense because the Company maintains a full valuation allowance
for all net deferred tax assets.
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Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes
The Company recognizes the effect of tax positions only when they are more likely than not to be sustained. Management has determined
that the Company had no uncertain tax positions that would require financial statement recognition or disclosure. The Company is no
longer subject to U.S. federal, state or local income tax examinations for periods prior to 2016. The Company recognizes interest and
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense.
Net Loss Per Share of Common Stock
Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding during the period, without consideration for potentially dilutive securities. For purposes of the
diluted net loss per share calculation, preferred stock, stock options, restricted stock and warrants are considered to be potentially dilutive
securities. Because the Company has reported a net loss for the three months and six months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, diluted net loss per common share is the same as basic net loss per common share for those periods.
Common stock equivalents resulting from potentially dilutive securities approximated 1,409,000 and 1,179,000 at September 30, 2019 and
2018, respectively, and have not been included in the dilutive weighted average shares of common stock outstanding, as their effects are
anti-dilutive.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standard-setting bodies that do not require adoption
until a future date are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements upon adoption.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
Accounting for Leases
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASC 842, which sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of leases for both lessees and lessors. Originally, entities were required to adopt ASU 2016-02 using a modified retrospective approach at
the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements and the recognition of a cumulative-effect adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings. The FASB subsequently issued ASU 2018-10 and ASU 2018-11 in July 2018, which provide
clarifications and improvements to ASU 2016-02 (collectively, the “new lease standard”). ASU 2018-11 also provides the optional
transition method which allows companies to apply the new lease standard at the adoption date instead of at the earliest comparative period
presented and continue to apply the provisions of the previous lease standard in its annual disclosures for the comparative periods. The
new lease standard requires lessees to present a ROU asset and a corresponding lease liability on the balance sheet. Lessor accounting is
substantially unchanged compared to the current accounting guidance. Additional footnote disclosures related to leases will also be
required.
On April 1, 2019, the Company adopted the new lease standard using the optional transition method. The comparative financial
information will not be restated and will continue to be reported under the previous lease standard in effect during those periods. In
addition, the new lease standard provides a number of optional practical expedients in transition. The Company elected the package of
practical expedients. As such, the Company will not reassess whether expired or existing contracts are or contain a lease; will not need to
reassess the lease classifications or reassess the initial direct costs associated with expired or existing leases. The Company did not elect
the use of hindsight or the practical expedient pertaining to land easements; the latter not being applicable to the Company.
The new lease standard also provides practical expedients for an entity’s ongoing accounting. The Company elected the short-term lease
recognition exemption for all leases that qualify. This means, for those leases that qualify, the Company will not recognize ROU assets or
lease liabilities, including not recognizing ROU assets or lease liabilities for existing short-term leases of those assets in transition. The
Company elected the practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components for certain classes of assets (office buildings).
On April 1, 2019, the Company recognized ROU assets of $7.1 million and lease liabilities of approximately $9.4 million, derecognized
deferred rent liabilities of approximately $2.3 million and did not record an adjustment to accumulated deficit. When measuring lease
liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Company discounted lease payments using its estimated incremental
borrowing rate at April 1, 2019. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied was 13%. The Company’s adoption of the new
lease standard did not impact its consolidated statements of operations and its statements of cash flows. No cumulative effect adjustment
was recognized as the amount was not material. See Note 9 – Leases for further discussion, including the impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements and required disclosures.
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Stock Compensation
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07,Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718) – Improvements to Nonemployee
Share-based Payment Accounting. ASU 2018-07 addresses several aspects of the accounting for nonemployee share-based payment
transactions, including share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from nonemployees. ASU 2018-07 is effective
for the Company’s fiscal year 2020 beginning April 1, 2019. As a result of adopting the ASU on April 1, 2019, the Company reduced its
accumulated deficit by $188,000. See Note 11 – Stock Acquisition Rights, Stock Options and Warrants for further discussion, including
the impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and required disclosures.
3.

Revenue
On April 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASC 606 using the modified retrospective method and recognized the cumulative effect of
initially applying the guidance as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained deficit. The Company applied the new revenue standard
to new and existing contracts that were not complete as of the date of initial application. As a result of applying this standard using the
modified retrospective method, the Company has presented financial results and applied its accounting policies for the period beginning
April 1, 2018 under ASC 606, while prior period results and accounting policies have not been adjusted and are reflected under legacy
GAAP pursuant to Accounting Standard Codification 605.
In December 2018, the Company’s board of directors approved the transfer of its TeamConnectbusiness and support for its pdvConnect
business to help reduce operating costs and to allow the management team and the Company to focus on its FCC initiatives and future
broadband opportunities. Specifically, the Company entered into: (i) a Customer Acquisition and Resale Agreement with A BEEP LLC
(“A BEEP”) on January 2, 2019, (ii) a Customer Acquisition, Resale and Licensing Agreement with Goosetown Enterprises, Inc.
(“Goosetown”) on January 2, 2019 and (iii) a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with the principals of Goosetown on December 31,
2018. Under the A BEEP and Goosetown Agreements, the Company agreed to: (i) transfer its TeamConnect customers located in the
Atlanta, Chicago, Dallas, Houston and Phoenix metropolitan markets to A BEEP, (ii) transfer its TeamConnect customers located in the
Baltimore/Washington DC, Philadelphia and New York metropolitan markets to Goosetown, (iii) provide A BEEP and Goosetown with
access to the TeamConnect Metro and Campus Systems (the, “MotoTRBO Systems ”) and (iv) grant A BEEP and Goosetown the right to
resell access to the MotoTRBO Systems pursuant to separate Mobile Virtual Network Operation arrangements for a two-year period. The
Company also granted Goosetown a license to sell the business applications the Company developed for its TeamConnect service. On
March 31, 2019, the agreements were amended to formally set the transition date for the businesses as April 1, 2019 and to clarify the
responsibilities between the parties.
Under these agreements, A BEEP and Goosetown agreed to provide customer care, billing and collection services for their respective
acquired customers. The Company continued to provide these services through April 1, 2019 to help facilitate the transitioning of the
acquired customers. Additionally, the Company is required to maintain and pay all site lease, backhaul and utility costs required to operate
the MotoTRBO Systems for a two-year period. As part of the Company’s efforts to clear the 900 MHz spectrum for broadband use, A
BEEP and Goosetown are required to migrate the acquired customers off the MotoTRBO Systems over the two-year period. In
consideration for the customers and rights the Company transferred, A BEEP and Goosetown are required to pay a certain portion of the
recurring revenues they receive from the acquired customers ranging from 100% to 20% during the terms of the agreements. Additionally,
A BEEP is required to pay the Company a portion of recurring revenue from customers who utilize A BEEP’s push-to-talk Diga-talk Plus
application service ranging from 35% to 15% for a period of two years. Goosetown is required to pay the Company 20% of recurring
revenues from the TeamConnect applications it licensed for a period of two years.
Service Revenue. The Company has historically derived its service revenue from a fixed monthly recurring unit price per user, with 30day payment terms, for the pdvConnect, TeamConnect and Diga-talk service offerings.
pdvConnect is a proprietary cloud-based mobile resource management solution which has historically been sold as a separate software-asa-service offering for dispatch-centric business customers who utilize Tier 1 cellular networks, and to a lesser extent, who utilize land
mobile radio networks not operated by the Company. pdvConnect was historically sold directly by the Company or through two Tier 1
domestic carriers. The service is contracted and billed on a month-to-month basis, and the Company satisfies its performance obligation
over time as the services are delivered.
TeamConnect combines pdvConnect with push-to-talk (“PTT”) mobile communication services involving digital network architecture and
mobile devices. The contract period for the TeamConnect service varies from a month-to-month basis to 24 months. The customer is
billed at the beginning of each month of the contract term. The Company recognizes revenue as it satisfies its performance obligation over
time as the services are delivered. On April 1, 2019, these customers were transitioned to A BEEP and Goosetown. A BEEP and
Goosetown agreed to pay the Company a certain portion of the recurring revenues during the term of the agreements. While the customer
remains on the Company’s MotoTRBO Systems, the portion of recurring revenues paid by A BEEP and Goosetown is recorded as
revenue.
13

Table of Contents
Diga-talk is a mobile communications offering that was being resold by the Company for the three and six months ended September 30,
2018. The service was contracted and billed on a month-to-month basis. The determination was made that the Company was the principal
in this reseller arrangement since the customer viewed the Company as fulfilling the performance obligations and therefore, recorded
revenue on a gross basis over time upon delivery of the services. On April 1, 2019, these customers were transferred to A BEEP and the
Company no longer has revenue for this offering.
Spectrum Revenue. In September 2014, Motorola paid the Company an upfront, fully-paid fee of $7.5 million in order to use a portion
of the Company’s wireless spectrum licenses. The payment of the fee is accounted for as deferred revenue on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets and is recognized ratably as the service is provided over the contractual term of approximately ten years. The revenue
recognized for the three and six months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 were approximately $182,000 and $364,000, respectively.
Other Revenue. The Company historically derived other revenue primarily from either the sale of radios and accessories for
TeamConnect and Diga-talk as well as the rental of radios for TeamConnect based on 30-day payment terms. The Company recognized
radio and accessory revenue when a customer takes possession of the device. As of April 1, 2019 and the transition of customers to A
BEEP and Goosetown, the Company no longer sells radios and accessories nor rents radios for TeamConnect.
Contract Assets. Contract assets includes the portion of the Company’s future service invoices which has been allocated to the
discounted price of the radios and amortized as a reduction against service revenue over the contract period.
The Company also recognized a contract asset for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer. These costs include
commissions for sales people and commissions paid to third-party dealers. These costs are amortized ratably using the portfolio approach
over the estimated customer contract period. The Company reviews the contract asset on a periodic basis to determine if an impairment
exists. If it is determined that there was an impairment, the contract asset will be expensed. Under the previous accounting standard, the
Company expensed commissions as incurred.
As a result of the customers being transferred to A BEEP and Goosetown, all contract and contract acquisition costs were impaired. The
Company increased direct cost of revenue amounting to $178,000 for the six months ended September 30, 2019, and sales and support
expense amounting to $258,000 for the six months ended September 30, 2019.
The following table presents the activity for the Company’s contract assets (in thousands):
Contract Assets

Balance as of April 1, 2018
Additions
Amortization
Impairment
Balance at March 31, 2019
Impairment
Balance at September 30, 2019

$

$

768
284
(558)
(58)
436
(436)
—

Contract liabilities. Contract liabilities primarily relate to advance consideration received from customers for spectrum services, for
which revenue is recognized over time, as the services are performed. These contract liabilities are recorded as deferred revenue on the
balance sheet. The related liability as of March 31, 2019 of $4.2 million has been reduced by revenue recognized in the six months ended
September 30, 2019 of $0.4 million leaving a remaining liability of $3.8 million as of September 30, 2019.
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4.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following at September 30, 2019 and March 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Estimated
useful life

Network sites and equipment
Furniture and fixture and other equipment
Computer equipment
Computer software
Leasehold improvements

September 30,
2019

5-10 years
2-5 years
5-7 years
1-7 years
Shorter of the lease term or 10
years

$

Less accumulated depreciation
Construction in process
Property and equipment, net

$

15,864
282
83
509
232
16,970
8,340
8,630
19
8,649

March 31,
2019

$

$

15,954
1,026
140
28
351
17,499
7,952
9,547
283
9,830

Depreciation expense for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 amountedto $0.6 million and $0.7 million,
respectively. The depreciation expense for the six months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 amounted to $1.3 million and $1.4 million,
respectively. During the six months ended September 30, 2018, the Company recorded a $0.5 million non-cash charge for long-lived
asset impairment of its radio assets to reduce the carrying value to the estimated recoverable amount. There was no impairment charge for
the three and six months ended September 30, 2019. Computer software includes software developed or obtained for internal use during
the application development stage with an estimated useful life of 5 to 7 years. Leasehold improvements include certain allowances for
tenant improvements related to the expansion of the Company’s corporate headquarters. As of September 30, 2019, construction in
progress primarily relates to various computer equipment that were not in service. As of March 31, 2019, construction in progress
primarily relates to various software and web projects being developed internally. On September 30, 2019, the Company
transferred network, computer and other equipment with a net book value of $72,000 used to support the pdvConnect application services
in exchange for a 19.5% ownership interest to the LLC.
5.

Intangible Assets
Wireless licenses are considered indefinite-lived intangible assets. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not subject to amortization but
instead are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if an event indicates that the asset might be impaired. There were no
impairment charges related to the Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets during the three and six months ended September 30, 2019
and 2018.
During the quarter ended September 30, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with a third party to acquire wireless licenses for
cash consideration of $0.2 million, upon FCC approval.
Intangible assets consist of the following at September 30, 2019 and March 31, 2019 (in thousands):
Wireless Licenses

Balance at March 31, 2019
Acquisitions
Reclassed to property and equipment
Balance at September 30, 2019
6.

$

$

107,548
202
(5)
107,745

Equity Method Investment
In connection with the transfer of its TeamConnect business and support for its pdvConnect business, the Company entered into a
memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with the principals of Goosetown on December 31, 2018. Under the MOU, the Company agreed
to assign the intellectual property rights to its pdvConnect application to the LLC, a new entity formed by the principals of Goosetown, in
exchange for a 19.5% ownership interest in the LLC, effective April 30, 2019. The Goosetown principals have agreed to fund the future
operations of the LLC, subject to certain limitations. The LLC has assumed the Company’s software support and maintenance obligations
under the Goosetown and A BEEP Agreements. The LLC has also assumed customer care services related to the Company’s pdvConnect
application. The Company provided transition services to the LLC through April 1, 2019 to facilitate an orderly transition of the customer
care services.
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As of September 30, 2019, the Company transferred network, computer and other equipment with a net book value of$72,000, and
recorded an investment in the LLC amounting to $14,000 and loss on disposal of assets amounting to $58,000 relating to the transfer of the
assets as of such date. The Company anticipates that it will complete the transfer of the intellectual property rights to the LCC during the
third quarter of fiscal 2020.
During the six months ended September 30, 2019, the change in the carrying value of the investment inthe LLC is summarized as follows
(in thousands):
Equity Method Investment

Equity method investment carrying value at March 31, 2019

$

Contribution

14

Share of net income from LLC
$

Equity method investment carrying value at September 30, 2019
7.

—
15
29

Related Party Transactions
As of March 31, 2019, the Company owed $5,000 to a consultant firm who is an affiliate of a significant holder of the Company. No such
services were provided and owed to the consulting firm for the three and six months ending September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
The Company purchased $2,000 and $1,000 of equipment from Motorola for the three months endedSeptember 30, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. The Company paid $11,000 and $10,000 for services from Motorola for the six months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. The Motorola revenue recognized for the three and six months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 were approximately
$182,000 and $364,000, respectively. As of September 30, 2019 and March 31, 2019, the Company owed $84,000 and $60,000 to
Motorola, respectively.
Under the terms of the MOU, the Company is obligated to pay the LLC a monthly service fee for a 24-month period ending on January 7,
2021 for its assumption of the Company’s support obligations under the A BEEP and Goosetown agreements. The Company is also
obligated to pay the LLC a certain portion of the billed revenue received by the Company from pdvConnect customers for a 48-month
period. For the three and six months ended September 30, 2019, the Company incurred $250,000 and $514,000 under the MOU,
respectively. As of September 30, 2019 and March 31, 2019, the Company owed $30,000 and $118,000 to the LLC, respectively.

8.

Impairment and Restructuring Charges
Long-lived Assets and Right of Use Assets Impairment.
During the six months ended September 30, 2018, the Company reviewed assets designated for its TeamConnect business. As a result of
the Company’s transfer of the TeamConnect business, it determined that the carrying value of radios and related accessories were not fully
recoverable. As a result, the Company recorded a non-cash asset impairment charge of $0.5 million in the six months ending September
30, 2018 to reduce the carrying value of these assets to zero. There was no impairment charge for the six months ending September 30,
2019.
Restructuring Charges.
April 2018 and June 2018 restructuring activities. In April 2018, the Company announced a shift in its focus and resources in order to
pursue its regulatory initiatives at the FCC and prepare for the future deployment of broadband and other advanced technologies and
services. In light of this shift in focus, the Company’s board of directors also approved a chief executive officer transition plan, under
which, John Pescatore, the Company’s chief executive officer and president, transitioned to the position of vice chairman and Morgan
O’Brien, the Company’s then-current vice chairman, assumed the position as the new chief executive officer. In connection with the
transition, the Company and Mr. Pescatore entered into a Continued Service, Consulting and Transition Agreement and a separate
Consulting Agreement (the “CEO Transition Agreements”) and the Company also entered into additional consulting and transition
agreements with several other key employees.
On June 1, 2018, the Company’s board of directors approved an initial plan to restructure its business aimed at reducing the operating
costs of its TeamConnect and pdvConnect businesses and better aligning and focusing its business priorities on its spectrum
initiatives. As part of the restructuring plan, the Company eliminated approximately 20 positions, or 20% of its workforce, primarily from
its TeamConnect and pdvConnect businesses. In August 2018, the Company continued with its restructuring efforts and eliminated
approximately seven additional positions.
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For the six months ended September 30, 2019, total accrued restructuring charges for the April 2018 and June 2018 restructuring activities
were as follows (in thousands):
Restructuring Activities

Balance at March 31, 2019
Cash payments
Balance at September 30, 2019 (classified as current liabilities - restructuring reserve)

$

2,655
(1,036)
1,619

$

December 2018 cost reductions. On December 31, 2018, the Company’s board of directors approved the following cost reduction actions:
(i) the elimination of approximately 20 positions, or 30% of the Company’s workforce and (ii) the closure of its office in SanDiego,
California (collectively, the “December 2018 Cost-Reduction Actions”). For the three and six months ended September 30, 2019, the
Company recorded an additional restructuring charge relating to the December 2018 Cost-Reduction Actions amounting to $28,000 and
$172,000, respectively, related to employee severance and benefit costs. For the six months ended September 30, 2019, the Company
reduced the facility exit costs accrual for our San Diego, California officeby approximately $28,000. An additional $91,000 of
restructuring charges will be incurred approximately through the third quarter of fiscal 2021 related to employee retention costs. The
Company completed the cost reduction and restructuring actions in July 31, 2019, and the related cash payments for severance costs was
completed by the end of August 31, 2019.
For the six months ended September 30, 2019, total December 2018 cost reduction charges were as follows (in thousands):
Restructuring Activities

Balance at March 31, 2019
Severance costs
Facility exit
Cash payments
Balance at September 30, 2019
Less amount classified as current liabilities - restructuring reserve
Noncurrent liabilities - included in other liabilities
9.

$

$

679
172
(28)
(645)
178
136
42

Leases
A lease is defined as a contract that conveys the right to control the use of identified property, plant or equipment for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. On April 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASC 842 and it primarily affected the accounting treatment for
operating lease agreements in which the Company is the lessee.
Substantially all of the leases in which the Company is the lessee are comprised of corporate office space and tower space. The Company
is obligated under certain lease agreements for office space with lease terms expiring on various dates from October 14, 2025 through June
30, 2027, which includes a ten-year lease extension for its corporate headquarters. The Company entered into multiple lease agreements for
tower space related to its TeamConnect business. The lease expiration dates range from April 16, 2020 to June 30, 2026.
Substantially all of the Company’s leases are classified as operating leases, and as such, were previously not recognized on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet. With the adoption of Topic 842, operating lease agreements are required to be recognized on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as ROU assets and corresponding lease liabilities.
On April 1, 2019, the Company recognized ROU assets of $7.1 million and lease liabilities of approximately $9.4 million, and
derecognized deferred rent liabilities of approximately $2.3 million. The Company elected not to recognize ROU assets and lease
liabilities arising from short-term office leases, leases with initial terms of twelve months or less (deemed immaterial) on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.
ROU assets include any prepaid lease payments and exclude any lease incentives and initial direct costs incurred. Lease expense for
minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The lease terms may include options to extend or
terminate the lease if it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option.
When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Company discounted lease payments using its
estimated incremental borrowing rate at April 1, 2019. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied was 13%. As of
September 30, 2019, the Company’s leases had a remaining weighted average term of 5.35 years.
Rent expense amounted to approximately $0.7 million and $1.3 million for the three and six months ended September 30, 2019,
respectively. Total rent expense amounted to approximately $0.6 million and $1.3 million for the three and six months ended September
30, 2018, respectively.
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The following table presents net lease cost (in thousands):
Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

September 30, 2019

September 30, 2019

Lease cost
Operating lease cost (cost resulting from lease payments)

$

Short term lease cost

666

$

1,290

10

Sublease income
$

Net lease cost

32

(5)
671 $

(9)
1,313

The following table presents other supplemental lease information (in thousands):
Six Months Ended
September 30, 2019

Operating lease - operating cash flows (fixed payments)

$

1,321

Operating lease - operating cash flows (liability reduction)

$

661

Right of use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities

$

7,915

Non-current assets - right of use assets, net

$

7,217

Current liabilities - operating lease liabilities

$

1,687

Non-current liabilities - operating lease liabilities

$

7,844

Future minimum payments under non-cancelable leases for office and tower spaces (exclusive of real estate tax, utilities, maintenance and
other costs borne by the Company), for the remaining terms of the leases following the six months ended September 30, 2019 are as
follows (in thousands):
Operating
Fiscal Year

Leases

2020 (excluding the six months ended September 30, 2019)

$

1,398

2021

2,670

2022

2,265

2023

2,098

2024

1,893

After 2024

3,054

Total future minimum lease payments

13,378

Amount representing interest

(3,847)
$

Present value of net future minimum lease payments

9,531

10. Income Taxes
On December 22, 2017, new federal tax provisions under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“TCJA”) were signed into law. The TCJA
includes numerous changes to existing corporate income tax laws. These changes include, among others, a permanent reduction in the
federal corporate income tax rate from the highest marginal rate of 35% to a fixed rate of 21%, effective as of January 1, 2018, and a
provision that federal net operating losses (“NOLs”) incurred in tax years ending after December 31, 2017 may be carried forward
indefinitely. As a result, the Company may now consider indefinite lived assets and the associated deferred tax liability as a source of
future taxable income when assessing the potential to realize future tax deductions from indefinite carryforwards of NOLs and interest
expense.
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As of March 31, 2018, the Company had federal and state NOL carryforwards of approximately $125.7 million and $51.3 million,
respectively, expiring in various amounts from 2019 through 2037, to offset future taxable income. Per the TCJA, federal and TCJAadhering state NOLs of approximately $34.1 million and $4.4 million, respectively, generated in fiscal year ended March 31, 2018 can be
carried forward indefinitely and are not subject to the 80% of taxable income NOL deduction limitation. As of March 31, 2019, the
Company had federal and state NOL carryforwards of approximately $164.0 million and $74.0 million, respectively, expiring in various
amounts from 2020 through 2037, to offset future taxable income. Federal and state NOLs of approximately $72.6 million and $10.3
million, respectively, can be carried forward indefinitely but a portion of federal and state NOLs of approximately $38.5 million and $6.0
million, respectively, is limited to 80% of future taxable income when used. For the six months ended September 30, 2019, the Company
incurred federal and state operating losses of approximately $19.4 million and $11.5 million, respectively, to offset future taxable income,
of which $22.4 million can be carried forward indefinitely, but can only offset 80% of taxable income when used.
The Company used a discrete effective tax rate method to calculate taxes for thethree- and six-month ended September 30, 2019. The
Company determined that applying an estimate of the annual effective tax rate would not provide a reasonable estimate as small changes
in estimated “ordinary” loss would result in significant changes in the estimated annual effective tax rate. Accordingly, for the six months
ending September 30, 2019, the Company recorded a total deferred tax expense of $463,000 due to the inability to use some portion of
federal and state NOL carryforwards against the deferred tax liability created by the amortization of indefinite-lived intangibles.
11.

Stock Acquisition Rights, Stock Options and Warrants
The Company established the 2014 Stock Plan (the “2014 Stock Plan”) to attract, retain and reward individuals who contribute to the
achievement of the Company’s goals and objectives. This 2014 Stock Plan superseded previous stock plans although under such previous
plans, 23,550 stock option shares were outstanding and vested as of September 30, 2019.
The Company’s board of directors has reserved 3,805,223 shares of common stock for issuance under its 2014 Stock Plan as of September
30, 2019, of which 821,333 shares are available for future issuance. The number of shares will continue to automatically increase each
January 1 through January 1, 2024 by an amount equal to the lesser of (i)5% of the number of shares of common stock issued and
outstanding on the immediately preceding December 31 or (ii) a lesser amount determined by the board of directors. Effective January 1,
2019, the board of directors elected to increase the shares authorized under the 2014 Stock Plan by 293,528 shares which represented 2%
of the of the common stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018.
Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units
A summary of non-vested restricted stock activity for the six months ended September 30, 2019 is as follows:

Restricted
Stock

Non-vested restricted stock outstanding at March 31, 2019
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Non-vested restricted stock outstanding at September 30, 2019

279,212 $
165,315
(2,163)
(86,274)
356,090 $

Weighted
Average
Grant Day
Fair Value

28.71
42.28
(22.85)
(28.41)
35.12

The Company recognizes compensation expense for restricted stock on a straight-line basis over the explicit vesting period. Vested
restricted stock units are settled and issuable upon the earlier of the date the employee ceases to be an employee of the Company or a date
certain in the future. Stock compensation expense related to restricted stock was approximately $1.0 million and $2.0 million for the three
and six months ended September 30, 2019, respectively. Stock compensation expense related to restricted stock was approximately$1.4
million and $2.6 million for the three and six months ended September 30, 2018, respectively.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07,Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718) – Improvements to Nonemployee
Share-based Payment Accounting. ASU 2018-07 addresses several aspects of the accounting for nonemployee share-based payment
transactions, including share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from nonemployees. ASU 2018-07 is effective
for the Company’s fiscal year 2020 beginning April 1, 2019. As a result of adopting the ASU on April 1, 2019, the Company reduced its
accumulated deficit by $14,000 relating to restricted stock.
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Stock compensation expense for restricted stock is accounted for in general and administrative expense in the Company’s Consolidated
Statement of Operations. At September 30, 2019, there was $10.5 million of unvested compensation expense for restricted stock, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.12 years.
Performance Stock Units
During the three and six months ended September 30, 2019, the Company did not award any performance stock units under the 2014
Stock Plan. Outstanding performance stock units represent the number of shares of the Company’s common stock that the recipient
would receive upon the Company’s attainment of the applicable performance goals. The units will vest in full upon attainment, prior to
January 13, 2020, of (A) a Final Order from the FCC providing for the creation and allocation of licenses for spectrum in the 900 MHz
band consisting of paired blocks of contiguous spectrum, each containing at least 3 MHz of contiguous spectrum, authorized for broadband
wireless communications uses and (B) the lack of objection by the Company's board of directors to the terms and conditions (including,
but not limited to, the rebanding, clearing and relocation procedures, license assignment and award mechanisms, and technical and
operational rules) set forth or referenced in the Final Order. These awards do not forfeit.
A summary of the performance stock unit activity for the six months ended September 30, 2019 is as follows:
Weighted
Average
Grant Day
Fair Value

Performance
Stock

Performance stock outstanding at March 31, 2019
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Performance stock outstanding at September 30, 2019

109,138
—
—
—
109,138

$

23.80
—
—
—
23.80

$

For the three and six months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, there was no stock compensation expense recognized for the
performance units. At September 30, 2019, there was approximately $2.6 million of unvested compensation expense related to the
outstanding performance stock units.
Stock Options
A summary of stock option activity for the six months endedSeptember 30, 2019 is as follows:
Options

Options outstanding at March 31, 2019
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited/expired
Options outstanding at September 30, 2019

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

1,923,634 $
—
(89,323)
(9,875)
1,824,436 $

23.64
—
(21.49)
(48.14)
23.61

There were no options granted for the three and six months ended September 30, 2019.
Performance Stock Options
A summary of the performance stock options as of September 30, 2019 is as follows:
Performance Options

Performance Options outstanding at March 31, 2019
Performance Options granted
Performance Options exercised
Performance Options forfeited/expired
Performance Options outstanding at September 30, 2019

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

179,945 $
—
—
—
179,945 $
20

25.83
—
—
—
25.83
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The performance options will vest in full immediately upon attainment of the performance goals. Performance is based upon the
Company’s achievement, prior to January 13, 2020, of (A) a Final Order from the FCC providing for the creation and allocation of
licenses for spectrum in the 900 MHz band consisting of paired blocks of contiguous spectrum, each containing at least 3 MHz of
contiguous spectrum, authorized for broadband wireless communications uses and (B) the lack of objection by the Company's Board of
Directors to the terms and conditions (including, but not limited to, the rebanding, clearing and relocation procedures, license assignment
and award mechanisms, and technical and operational rules) set forth or referenced in the Final Order.
Stock compensation expense related to the amortization of the fair value of stock options (other than the performance stock options)
issued was approximately $0.4 million and $1.0 million for the three and six months ended September 30, 2019. For the three and six
months ended September 30, 2018, the comparable stock compensation expense was approximately $2.1 million and $4.8 million,
respectively, which included $1.1 million of expense related to the consulting and transition agreements and $2.1 million of expense
related to the modification of option grants held by the Company’s former chief executive officer and president. The stock compensation
expense is included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718) – Improvements to Nonemployee
Share-based Payment Accounting. ASU 2018-07 addresses several aspects of the accounting for nonemployee share-based payment
transactions, including share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from nonemployees. ASU 2018-07 is effective
for the Company’s fiscal year 2020 beginning April 1, 2019. As a result of adopting the ASU on April 1, 2019, the Company reduced its
accumulated deficit by $174,000 relating to stock options.
As of September 30, 2019, there was approximately $3.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options
granted under the Company’s stock option plans, of which $2.0 million pertains to the non-performance based stock options which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years.
Motorola Investment
On September 15, 2014, Motorola invested $10.0 million to purchase 500,000 Class B Units of the Company’s subsidiary, PDV Spectrum
Holding Company, LLC (at a price equal to $20.00 per unit). The Company owns 100% of the Class A Units in this subsidiary. Motorola
has the right at any time to convert its 500,000 Class B Units into 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company also has
the right to force Motorola’s conversion of these Class B Units into shares of its common stock at its election. Motorola is not entitled to
any assets, profits or distributions from the operations of the subsidiary. In addition, Motorola’s conversion ratio from Class B Units to
shares of the Company’s common stock is fixed on a one-for-one basis, and is not dependent on the performance or valuation of either the
Company or the subsidiary. The Class B Units have no redemption or call provisions and can only be converted into shares of the
Company’s common stock. Management has determined that this investment does not meet the criteria for temporary equity or noncontrolling interest due to the limited rights that Motorola has as a holder of Class B Units, and accordingly has presented this investment
as part of its permanent equity within Additional Paid-in Capital in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
12.

Contingencies
Litigation
From time to time, the Company may be involved in litigation that arises from the ordinary operations of the business, such as contractual
or employment disputes or other general actions. The Company is not involved in any material legal proceedings at this time.

13.

Concentrations of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents
and trade accounts receivable.
The Company places its cash and temporary cash investments with financial institutions for which credit loss is not anticipated.
As of September 30, 2019, the Company sells its pdvConnect product and extends credit predominately to two third-party carriers. The
Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts based on factors surrounding the write-off history, historical trends, and other
information.
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14.

Business Concentrations
For the three and six months ended September 30, 2019, the Company had two domestic carriers that accounted for approximately 23%
and 25% of operating revenues, respectively. For the three and six months ended September 30, 2018, the Company had one domestic
carrier that accounted for approximately 28% and 31% of operating revenues, respectively.
As of September 30, 2019, the Company had two domestic carriers that accounted for approximately 67% of accounts receivable. As of
March 31, 2019, the Company had one domestic carrier that accounted for approximately 31% of accounts receivable.

15.

Subsequent Event
Consistent with the Company’s transfer of support for the pdvConnect business to TeamConnect LLC (the “LLC”), the Company received
notice from one of the Tier 1 carrier partners who markets pdvConnect that the Tier 1 carrier partner had signed a contract directly with
the LLC to continue marketing pdvConnect and that it would be terminating its contract with the Company, effective as of October 31,
2019. As a result, revenue from sales of pdvConnect by this Tier 1 carrier will transfer to the LLC effective November 1, 2019. The
Company has a 19.5% equity investment in the LLC. As disclosed in the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2018, the Company
had previously announced that the largest customer of the pdvConnect service planned to terminate its use of the service, which
termination ultimately occurred in October 2019. As a result of the loss of this significant customer, the Company’s implementation of the
restructuring plan, and the related measures taken to reduce the operating costs of the Company’s TeamConnect and pdvConnect
businesses, principally in the sales and marketing areas, the operating revenues from these businesses have exhibited a decline since the
quarter ended September 30, 2018 and are expected to continue to exhibit a decline for the next several quarters.
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Item 2: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
This discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of Anterix Inc. (“Anterix,” the “Company”, “we”, “us”, or
“our”) should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and notes thereto included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (the
“Form 10-Q”) and the audited financial statements and notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March
31, 2019, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2019 (the “Annual Report”). In addition to historical information, this discussion and analysis
contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors including, but not limited to, those identified or referenced in “Item
1A—Risk Factors” in Part II of this Form 10-Q. As a result, investors are urged not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking
statements. Except to the limited extent required by applicable law, we do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements to
reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of this Form 10-Q.
Overview
We are a wireless communications company focused on empowering the modernization of critical infrastructure and enterprise businesses
communications by enabling broadband connectivity. Our foundational spectrum provides the ability to transform our customers operations to
meet new business complexities while achieving higher levels of performance and safety. We are the largest holder of licensed spectrum in the
900 MHz band (896-901/935-940 MHz) with nationwide coverage throughout the contiguous United States, Hawaii, Alaska and Puerto Rico.
On average, we hold approximately 60% of channels in the 900 MHz band in the top 20 metropolitan market areas in the United States. We are
currently pursuing a regulatory proceeding at the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) that seeks to modernize and realign the 900
MHz band by allowing it to be utilized for the deployment of broadband networks, technologies and solutions. Our goal is to become the leading
provider of broadband spectrum assets to critical infrastructure and enterprise customers. We maintain offices in Woodland Park, New Jersey
and McLean, Virginia.
Our FCC Initiatives
Our spectrum is our most valuable asset. While our current licensed spectrum can support narrowband and wideband wireless services, the most
significant business opportunities we have identified require contiguous spectrum that allows for greater bandwidth than allowed by the current
configuration of our spectrum. As a result, our first priority is to continue to pursue our initiatives at the FCC seeking to modernize and realign a
portion of the 900 MHz band to increase its usability and capacity by allowing it to accommodate the deployment of broadband networks,
technologies and solutions.
On March 14, 2019, the FCC unanimously adopted a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (“NPRM”) in WT Docket No. 17-200 (the “900 MHz
Proceeding”). Comments on the NPRM were filed on May 31, 2019 and reply comments were filed on July 2, 2019.
The NPRM endorsed our objective of creating a broadband opportunity in the 900 MHz band for critical infrastructure and other enterprise
users. The NPRM generally proposes our recommended band plan concept and technical rules. Importantly, the proposed technical rules include
our recommended equipment specifications that would enable the use of available, globally standardized broadband LTE networks, technologies
and solutions.
In the NPRM, the FCC has proposed three criteria for an applicant to secure a broadband license in a particular county within the United States:
(i) the applicant must hold all 20 blocks of geographic Specialized Mobile Radio (“SMR”) licenses in the county; (ii) the applicant must reach
agreement to relocate all incumbents in the broadband segment in a 1:1 voluntary channel exchange or demonstrate that the incumbents will be
protected from interference; and (iii) the applicant must agree to return to the FCC all rights to geographic and site-based spectrum in the county
in exchange for the broadband license.
The FCC requested comments from incumbents and other interested parties on a number of important topics in the NPRM that will have a
material impact on our ability to qualify for, and the related time and costs of obtaining, broadband licenses. As noted above, the broadband
applicant must hold all 20 blocks of geographic SMR licenses in the county. In certain areas, some of the SMR spectrum is being held in
inventory by the FCC. In the NPRM, the FCC requested comments on how a broadband applicant could acquire the FCC’s inventory of
geographic SMR allocated spectrum. Specifically, in considering whether to make its inventory of geographic SMR spectrum available to the
broadband applicant, the FCC has asked whether it should do so only if the applicant meets a threshold number of its own geographic SMR
licenses. The FCC also questions how to mitigate a windfall that might thereby be attributed to the broadband applicant by the FCC’s action.
We have recommended that broadband applicants be able to include geographic SMR spectrum held in inventory by the FCC for purposes of
eligibility, provided that they hold all licensed geographic SMR spectrum. We addressed the windfall question by identifying a number of recent
instances when the FCC has authorized rule changes that improved certain licensees’ spectrum positions based on an FCC finding that doing so
addressed a significant public interest consideration.
The NPRM also proposes a market-driven, voluntary exchange process for clearing the broadband spectrum. An applicant seeking a broadband
license for a particular county will need to demonstrate that it has entered into agreements with incumbents or that it can protect their narrowband
operations from interference. All incumbents must be accounted for before the broadband applicant can file an application with the FCC. As
the FCC recognized in the NPRM, this requirement, without some mechanism for preventing
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holdouts, could allow a single incumbent with a license for a single channel to thwart the FCC’s objective of creating a 900 MHz broadband
opportunity in any county.
In the NPRM, the FCC has requested comments on different approaches to address the holdout situation. One approach is based on a “success
threshold” whereby once the broadband applicant has reached voluntary agreements with incumbents holding a prescribed percentage of
channels in the broadband segment, remaining incumbents would become subject to mandatory relocations. In this and other approaches set
forth in the NPRM, the broadband applicant would be responsible for providing comparable facilities and paying the reasonable costs of
relocation. The NPRM proposes to exempt from mandatory relocation “complex systems,” with 65 or more integrated sites. There are only a
small number of complex systems in the country in the broadband segment proposed by the FCC, and all of them are operated by utilities or
other critical infrastructure entities. We have endorsed the proposed “success threshold” as the most efficient way to address holdouts and have
reaffirmed our commitment that any system that is mandatorily retuned is entitled to comparable facilities and cost reimbursement. We also have
supported the proposal that complex systems, as defined in the NPRM, be exempt from mandatory relocation.
The Association of American Railroads (“AAR”) holds a nationwide geographic license for six non-contiguous Private Land Mobile Systems for
Business Users (“B/ILT”) channels in the 900 MHz band, three of which are located within the FCC’s proposed broadband segment. The
spectrum is used by freight railroads for Advanced Train Control System (“ATCS”) operations. We have recognized from the outset the
importance of reaching agreement with the railroads about their relocation, and have worked with them throughout the FCC process. We and the
AAR are in agreement about the optimal solution. However, this proposed solution will require an exemption from the relocation rules proposed
by the FCC in the NPRM. We are continuing to coordinate our activities at the FCC with the AAR in support of securing the required
exemption from the FCC and have urged the FCC to recognize AAR’s unique 900 MHz spectrum position with an appropriate solution that is
consistent with the future wireless requirements of the railroad industry.
The NPRM also sought comment on several different auction approaches for counties where the broadband segment cannot be cleared of
incumbents, including overlay auctions that, again, would trigger mandatory relocation rights for the auction winner with the obligation of
providing comparable facilities and paying reasonable relocation costs. We believe the challenge of any proposed approach is achieving the
appropriate balance between protecting incumbents’ rights to a minimally disruptive relocation process, and not preventing the deployment of
broadband technologies on a timely and cost-effective basis. While auctions are one mechanism for addressing holdouts, they can involve
lengthy delays that slow delivery of modernized capabilities. We have advised the FCC that a success threshold approach would allow
broadband deployment on a more expedited schedule.
While the NPRM proposes a 6 MHz broadband segment, it also sought comment on a realignment of the entire 900 MHz band to create a 10
MHz broadband channel, citing suggestions from Southern California Edison and Duke Energy that this larger channel would better address
their broadband needs.
A number of other parties filed Comments and Reply Comments as well. The number of utilities expressing an immediate need for private
broadband networks has increased steadily through the course of the proceeding and the number of parties opposing realignment to create a 900
MHz band broadband option has diminished, but some incumbents continue to disagree with the NPRM proposal. Most are incumbents with
systems that would be exempt from the possibility of mandatory retuning under the proposed complex system definition.
Now that the formal comment period has closed, the FCC’s next step could be the issuance of a final report and order (“Report and Order”), a
request for additional information, a decision to close the proceeding without further action, or some other action. There is no assurance if or
when the FCC will issue a Report and Order. Further, the terms of any Report and Order may differ materially from the terms of the NPRM.
Please read “Risk Factors” for a discussion of material risks related to the NPRM and FCC process.
Our Business Plans and Initiatives
Complementing our regulatory initiatives, we are engaged in a number of business activities to build demand for and to begin commercializing
our spectrum assets among our targeted critical infrastructure and enterprise customers. We are identifying customers who are likely to place
value on deploying and operating private broadband networks, technologies and solutions utilizing our spectrum assets. As part of this exercise,
we identified and evaluated potential use cases in the electric utilities industry, especially those companies that are investigating ways to fulfill
their existing and future network and communications needs.
We are also evaluating the appropriate business model for commercializing our spectrum assets, assuming our FCC initiatives are
successful. Based on our analysis, and discussions with potential customers, we intend to lease our spectrum to customers for 20 year or longer
terms. We intend for our customers to bear the costs of deploying and operating their private broadband networks, technologies and solutions.
We believe that our licensed spectrum assets in the 900 MHz band present an attractive potential cost-savings opportunity for our initial target
customers when compared to other solutions that utilize medium band spectrum. We will be responsible for the costs of securing the broadband
licenses from the FCC, including the costs of acquiring sufficient spectrum to support broadband use and retuning incumbents to clear the
spectrum. The timing and costs of our spectrum acquisition and retuning
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activities will be based on the terms of the Report and Order, if any, the FCC adopts in the 900 MHz Proceeding and these costs could be
significant. We are also exploring opportunities to offer our customers value-added engineering and commercial services.
Our Strategy
Our business strategy is to continue to simultaneously pursue our FCC and business initiatives. Our FCC initiatives are focused on obtaining a
Report and Order from the FCC that supports broadband services in the 900 MHz band. Our business initiatives are focused on supporting both
(i) our FCC initiatives, including the timely issuance of a favorable Report and Order, and (ii) our efforts to be ready to obtain broadband
licenses from the FCC and to commercialize our spectrum assets assuming the FCC issues a favorable Report and Order. Our efforts include:
·

engaging with the FCC and other incumbents and interested parties in the 900 MHz band;

·

business development activities with our initial target customers, including electrical utilities and other critical infrastructure entities;

·

pursuing initiatives with federal and state agencies and commissions that regulate our initial target customers; and

·

beginning to “retune” the 900 MHz band.

We refer to “retuning” as the process of relocating incumbents in the counties where we plan to obtain broadband licenses. Retuning involves:
·

funding the relocation of incumbents that wish to continue operating 900 MHz narrowband systems to comparable 900 MHz channels
outside the broadband segment;

·

compensating incumbents that decide to address their wireless communications needs through non-900 MHz band solutions; and/or

·

entering into agreements with incumbents that wish to implement broadband networks.

In order to relocate incumbents to alternative narrowband channels, we will need to make acquisitions of additional 900 MHz spectrum outside
of the broadband segment in certain counties. We also will need to acquire spectrum assets in certain counties to satisfy the broadband license
eligibility criteria proposed by the FCC in the NPRM.
Our FCC and business initiatives, including our retuning efforts, will continue to involve extensive management efforts and significant costs and
expenses for the foreseeable future. We do not expect to have significant revenue and expect to incur significant operating losses until such time
as we are able to obtain broadband licenses and commercialize our spectrum assets based on a Report and Order issued by the FCC, if we are
able to at all. Our current estimates regarding our operating costs, including the timing and costs of our retuning process, are based on the terms
of the NPRM and our assumptions regarding the terms of the Report and Order to be issued by the FCC, if at all. The accuracy of these
assumptions and the timing of our regulatory initiatives with the FCC, our retuning efforts and the commercialization of our spectrum assets are
subject to significant uncertainties and may cause our quarterly and annual results to be unpredictable for the foreseeable future. In addition, the
adoption by the FCC of a Report and Order may be significantly delayed, may contain materially different and adverse terms than the NPRM, or
may never occur and we may never be able to commercialize our spectrum assets.
Our Historical Business, TeamConnect and pdvConnect
Historically, we generated our revenue principally from our pdvConnect and TeamConnect businesses. pdvConnect is a mobile communication
and workforce management solution that we historically marketed through two Tier 1 carriers in the United States. In Fiscal 2016, we began
offering a commercial push-to-talk (“PTT”) service, which we marketed as TeamConnect, in seven major metropolitan areas throughout the
United States, including Atlanta, Baltimore/Washington, Chicago, Dallas, Houston, New York and Philadelphia. We primarily offered our
TeamConnect service to customers indirectly through third-party sales representatives who were primarily selected from Motorola’s nationwide
dealer network.
In June 2018, we announced our plan to restructure the business to align and focus our business priorities on our FCC spectrum initiatives aimed
at modernizing and realigning the 900 MHz band. In December 2018, our board of directors approved the transfer of our TeamConnect
business and support of our pdvConnect business. Specifically, we entered into: (i) a Customer Acquisition and Resale Agreement with A
BEEP LLC (“A BEEP”) on January 2, 2019, (ii) a Customer Acquisition, Resale and Licensing Agreement with Goosetown Enterprises, Inc.
(“Goosetown”) on January 2, 2019 and (iii) a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with the
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principals of Goosetown on December 31, 2018. On March 31, 2019, the agreements were amended to define the transition date as April 1,
2019 and to clarify the responsibilities between the parties.
Under the A BEEP and Goosetown Agreements, we agreed to: (i) transfer our TeamConnect customers located in the Atlanta, Chicago, Dallas,
Houston and Phoenix metropolitan markets to A BEEP, (ii) transfer our TeamConnect customers located in the Baltimore/Washington DC,
Philadelphia and New York metropolitan markets to Goosetown, (iii) provide A BEEP and Goosetown with access to our TeamConnect Metro
and Campus Systems (the, “MotoTRBO Systems ”) and (iv) grant A BEEP and Goosetown the right to resell access to our MotoTRBO Systems
pursuant to separate Mobile Virtual Network Operation arrangements for a two-year period. We also granted Goosetown a license to sell the
business applications we developed for our TeamConnect service.
Under these agreements, A BEEP and Goosetown agreed to provide customer care, billing and collection services for their respective acquired
customers. We initially continued to provide these services through April 1, 2019 to help facilitate the transitioning of the acquired customers.
Additionally, we are required to maintain and pay all site lease, backhaul and utility costs required to operate the MotoTRBO Systems for a twoyear period. As part of our efforts to clear the 900 MHz spectrum for broadband use, A BEEP and Goosetown are required to migrate the
acquired customers off the MotoTRBO Systems over the two-year period. In consideration for the customers and rights we transferred, A BEEP
and Goosetown are required to pay us a certain portion of the recurring revenues they receive from the acquired customers ranging from 100%
to 20% during the terms of the agreements. Additionally, A BEEP is required to pay us a portion of recurring revenue from customers who
utilize A BEEP’s push-to-talk Diga-Talk Plus application service ranging from 35% to 15% for a period of two years. Goosetown is required to
pay us 20% of recurring revenues from the TeamConnect applications we licensed for a period of two years. As part of our obligations, we will
continue operating the TeamConnect networks in the markets in which customers are being transferred and trunked facilities in other markets in
which we hold FCC licenses.
Under the terms of the MOU, we agreed to assign the intellectual property rights to our TeamConnect and pdvConnect applications and assets to
support the pdvConnect application to TeamConnect LLC (the “ LLC”), a new entity formed by the principals of Goosetown, in exchange for a
19.5% ownership interest in the LLC. The Goosetown principals have agreed to fund the future operations of the LLC, subject to certain
limitations. The LLC has assumed our software support and maintenance obligations under the Goosetown and A BEEP Agreements. The LLC
has also assumed customer care services related to our pdvConnect application. We provided transition services to the LLC through April 1,
2019 to facilitate an orderly transition of the customer care services. As of September 30, 2019, we transferred network, computer and other
equipment with a net book value of $72,000, and recorded an investment in the LLC amounting to $14,000 and loss on disposal of assets
amounting to $58,000 relating to the transfer of the assets as of such date. We anticipate that we will complete the transfer of the intellectual
property rights to the LCC during the third quarter of fiscal 2020. We are also obligated to pay the LLC a monthly services fee for a 24-month
period ending on January 7, 2021 for its assumption of our support obligations under the Goosetown and A BEEP Agreements. We are also
obligated to pay the LLC a certain portion of the billed revenue received by us from pdvConnect customers for a 48-month period.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of the three and six months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018
The following table sets forth our results of operations for the three and six months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018. The period-to-period
comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of the financial results we will achieve in future periods.
Operating revenues
Three months ended
September 30,
2019
2018

(in thousands)

(Unaudited)

Service revenue
Spectrum lease revenue
Other revenue
Total operating revenues

$

$

241
182
—
423

Six months ended
September 30,
2019
2018

Aggregate Change
Amount
%

(Unaudited)

$

$

1,295 $
182
347
1,824 $

(Unaudited)

(1,054)
—
(347)
(1,401)

-81% $
0%
-100%
-77% $

512 $
364
—
876 $

Aggregate Change
Amount
%

(Unaudited)

2,642 $
364
688
3,694 $

(2,130)
—
(688)
(2,818)

-81%
0%
-100%
-76%

Overall operating revenues decreased by $1.4 million, or 77%, to $423,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2019 from $1.8 million for
the three months ended September 30, 2018. For the six months ended September 30, 2019, operating revenue decreased by $2.8 million, or
76%, to $876,000 from $3.7 million for the six months ended September 30, 2018. The decrease in the three and six month periods are
attributable to the transfer of our TeamConnect customers to A BEEP and Goosetown as part of our December 2018 restructuring efforts as
discussed in Note 3 above, as well as the loss of a customer in our pdvConnect business.
Operating expenses

(in thousands)

Direct cost of revenue
$
(exclusive of depreciation and
amortization)
General and administrative
Sales and support
Product development
Depreciation and amortization
Stock compensation expense
(exclusive of restructuring
related costs)
Restructuring costs
Impairment of long-lived
assets
$
Total operating expenses

Three months ended
September 30,
2019
2018
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)

699 $

Aggregate Change
Amount
%

Six months ended
September 30,
2019
2018
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)

1,139 $

(440)

-39% $

1,617 $

2,625 $

4,557
759
555
636
1,412

4,635
864
568
716
1,904

(78)
(105)
(13)
(80)
(492)

-2%
-12%
-2%
-11%
-26%

9,405
1,973
1,236
1,277
2,989

50
—

4,147
—

(4,097)
—

-99%
0%

160
—

(5,305)

-38% $

8,668 $

13,973 $

18,657 $

Aggregate Change
Amount
%

(1,008)

-38%

9,093
2,487
1,199
1,445
2,960

312
(514)
37
(168)
29

3%
-21%
3%
-12%
1%

8,122
531

(7,962)
(531)

-98%
-100%

(9,805)

-34%

28,462 $

Direct cost of revenue. Direct cost of revenue decreased by $0.4 million, or 39%, to $0.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019
from $1.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018. For the six months ended September 30, 2019, direct cost of revenue
decreased by $1.0 million, or 38%, to $1.6 million from $2.6 million for the six months ended September 30, 2018. The decrease in the three
and six months ended September 30, 2019 are attributable to lower costs related to radio sales as a result of the transfer of our TeamConnect
customers to A BEEP and Goosetown as part of our December 2018 restructuring efforts as discussed in Note 3 above.
General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2019 decreased by $0.1
million, or 2%, to $4.5 million from $4.6 million for three months ended September 30, 2018. For the six months ended September 30, 2019,
general and administrative expenses increased by $0.3 million, or 3%, to $9.4 million from $9.1 million for the six months ended September 30,
2018. The decrease of $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019 resulted mainly from lower employee related costs. The
$0.3 million increase in the six months ended September 30, 2019 resulted primarily from professional services, $0.3 million for costs related to
the monthly service fee for the transfer of our TeamConnect customers, partially offset by $0.5 million lower employee related costs due to
lower headcount resulting from the restructuring activities in Fiscal 2019.
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Sales and support expenses. Sales and support expenses decreased by $0.1 million, or 12%, to $0.8 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2019 from $0.9 million for three months ended September 30, 2018. For the six months ended September 30, 2019, sales and
support expenses decreased by $0.5 million, or 21%, to $2.0 million from $2.5 million for the six months ended September 30, 2018. The
decrease in the three and six months ended September 30, 2019 was attributable to the impact of the reduction in workforce that occurred in
Fiscal 2019 resulting in lower headcount and related costs in the first six months of Fiscal 2020 partially offset by the impairment of contract
costs related to the TeamConnect customers transferred to A BEEP and Goosetown.
Product development expenses. Product development expenses remained relatively flat for the threeand six months ended September 30, 2019
as compared to the three and six months ended September 30, 2018.
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization for the three months ended September 30, 2019 decreased by $0.1 million, or
11% to $0.6 million from $0.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018. For the six months ended September 30, 2019,
depreciation and amortization decreased by $0.1 million, or 12%, to $1.3 million from $1.4 million for the six months ended September 30,
2018. The decreases in the three and six months ended September 30, 2019 are attributable to lower depreciation for radio rentals as a result of
the transfer of our TeamConnect customers to A BEEP and Goosetown as part of our December 2018 restructuring efforts.
Stock compensation expense (exclusive of restructuring related costs). Stock compensation expense for the three months ended September 30,
2019 decreased by $0.5 million, or 26% to $1.4 million from $1.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018. The decrease in the
three months ended September 30, 2019 is attributable to lower number of shares and the value of stock granted in the quarter. Stock
compensation expense remained relatively flat for the six months ended September 30, 2019 as compared to the six months ended September 30,
2018.
As discussed in Note 11, we have outstanding performance stock units and stock options. The units and options will vest in full upon
attainment, prior to January 13, 2020, of (A) a Final Order from the FCC providing for the creation and allocation of licenses for spectrum in the
900 MHz band consisting of paired blocks of contiguous spectrum, each containing at least 3 MHz of contiguous spectrum, authorized for
broadband wireless communications uses and (B) the lack of objection by the Company's board of directors to the terms and
conditions (including, but not limited to, the rebanding, clearing and relocation procedures, license assignment and award mechanisms, and
technical and operational rules) set forth or referenced in the Final Order. These awards do not forfeit. The unvested stock compensation
expense for these performance awards was $4.6 million as of September 30, 2019 of which $2.6 million is related to the performance stock units
and $2.0 million is related to the performance stock options.
Restructuring costs. Restructuring costs of $50,000 and $160,000 were incurred in the three and six months endedSeptember 30, 2019 mainly
for employee severance and benefit costs relating to the December 2018 cost reduction and restructuring actions related to the transfer of the
TeamConnect business and the support for our pdvConnect business to A BEEP, Goosetown and the LLC.
For the three months and six months ended September 30, 2018, $4.1 million and $8.1 million of the restructuring costs were incurred,
respectively, as a result of the April and June 2018 announcements of a restructuring plan to shift our focus and resources to pursue the
regulatory initiatives at the FCC and prepare for the future deployment of broadband and other advanced technologies and services.
Impairment of long-lived assets. The impairment for the six months ended September 30, 2018 resulted from the carrying value of our
TeamConnect radios not being fully recoverable due to the realigning of our business to focus on our spectrum initiatives. There was no
impairment charge for the three and six months ended September 30, 2019.
Interest income
Three months ended
September 30,
2019
2018

(in thousands)

(Unaudited)

Interest income

$

634 $

Aggregate Change
Amount
%

(Unaudited)

370 $

Six months ended
September 30,
2019
2018
(Unaudited)

264

71% $

988 $

Aggregate Change
Amount
%

(Unaudited)

686 $

302

44%

Interest income increased by 71% and 44% for the three and six months ended September 30, 2019, respectively, as compared to the three and
six months ended September 30, 2018 due to the return on the net proceeds from the July 2019 follow-on offering.
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Other income (expenses)
Three months ended
September 30,
2019
2018

(in thousands)

(Unaudited)

Other income (expenses)

$

(Unaudited)

52 $

Six months ended
September 30,
2019
2018

Aggregate Change
Amount
%

(Unaudited)

(1) $

53

100% $

Aggregate Change
Amount
%

(Unaudited)

152 $

— $

152

100%

For the three and six months ended September 30, 2019, other income represents payments received in consideration for the customers and
rights transferred to A BEEP and Goosetown.
Income on equity method investment
Three months ended
September 30,
2019
2018
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)

(in thousands)

Income on equity method
investment

$

15

$

Six months ended
September 30,
2019
2018
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)

Aggregate Change
Amount
%

— $

15

100% $

15 $

Aggregate Change
Amount
%

— $

15

100%

The increase in income on investment for the three and six months ended September 30, 2019 is due to the19.5% ownership interest in
TeamConnect LLC.
Income tax expense
Three months ended
September 30,
2019
2018

(in thousands)

(Unaudited)

Income tax expense

$

171 $

Aggregate Change
Amount
%

(Unaudited)

— $

Six months ended
September 30,
2019
2018
(Unaudited)

171

100% $

Aggregate Change
Amount
%

(Unaudited)

463 $

— $

463

100%

A non-cash deferred income expense of $0.2 million and $0.5 million was recorded for the three and six months endedSeptember 30, 2019,
respectively. The state income tax expense portion resulted from our determination that most of our state operating loss carryforwards are not
indefinite. As a result, we recorded approximately $119,000 and $411,000 of state deferred tax expense and additional related state deferred tax
liability reflecting our inability to use the state NOL carryforward against the indefinite-lived intangible for the three and six months ended
September 30, 2019, respectively. A non-cash federal deferred income tax expense and liability of $52,000 was recorded for the three and six
months ended September 30, 2019, respectively.
For the three and six months ended September 30, 2018, there was no income tax expense recorded as a result of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act,
(the “TCJA”), passed on December 22, 2017. The TCJA provided that federal net operating losses generated in tax years ending after December
31, 2017 are indefinite lived deferred tax assets and can be fully offset by our deferred tax liability related to our indefinite lived intangible
assets.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
At September 30, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $157.5 million.
Our accounts receivable are heavily concentratedin two domestic carrier partners. As of September 30, 2019, our accounts receivable balance
was approximately $136,000, of which approximately $91,000, or approximately 67%, was owed by these two domestic carrier partners.
Cash Flows from Operating, Investing and Financing Activities
Six months ended
September 30,
(in thousands)

2018
(Unaudited)

2019
(Unaudited)

Net cash used by operating activities

$

(14,543)

$

(12,213)

Net cash used by investing activities

$

(503)

$

(1,147)

Net cash provided by financing activities

$

95,818

$

686

Net cash used by operating activities. Net cash used in operating activities was $14.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019, as
compared to $12.2 million for the six months ended September 30, 2018. The majority of net cash used by operating activities during the six
months ended September 30, 2019 resulted from our net loss of $17.1 million and a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses by $1.2
million, partially offset by non-cash stock-based compensation of $3.0 million. The majority of
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net cash used by operating activities during the six months ended September 30, 2018 resulted fromour net loss of $24.1 million, partially offset
by non-cash stock-based compensation of $7.5 million.
Net cash used by investing activities. Net cash used in investing activities was approximately $0.5 million for the six months ended September
30, 2019, as compared to $1.1 million used for the six months ended September 30, 2018. The net cash used during the six months ended
September 30, 2019 resulted from the purchase of equipment amounting to $0.3 million and $0.2 million from wireless license acquisitions. The
net cash used during the six months ended September 30, 2018 resulted from $0.9 million from wireless license acquisitions and $0.2 million
from the purchase of equipment.
Net cash provided by financing activities. For the six months ended September 30, 2019, net cash provided by financing activities was $95.8
million primarily from the $94.2 million net proceeds from the July 2019 follow-on offering and $2.0 million from the proceeds from stock
option exercises. For the six months ended September 30, 2018, net cash provided by financing activities was $0.7 million which was principally
due to $0.8 million in cash received from the proceeds from stock option exercises.
Net proceeds from July 2019 follow-on offering. In July 2019, the Company completed a registered follow-on offering in which it sold
2,222,223 shares of common stock at a purchase price to the public of$45.00 per share. Net proceeds were approximately $94.2 million after
deducting $5.5 million in underwriting discounts and commissions, and $0.3 million in offering expenses.
In January 2019, we announced that we had entered into agreements to transfer our TeamConnect and pdvConnect businesses. Specifically, the
Company entered into a (i) Customer Acquisition and Resale Agreement with A BEEP LLC (“A BEEP”) on January 2, 2019, (ii) a Customer
Acquisition, Resale and Licensing Agreement with Goosetown Enterprises, Inc. (“Goosetown”) on January 2, 2019 and (iii) a memorandum of
understanding with the principals of Goosetown on December 31, 2018. We will continue operating our push-to-talk networks in the markets in
which customers are being transferred and trunked facilities in other markets in which we hold FCC licenses. Under the terms of the MOU, we
are obligated to pay the LLC a monthly service fee for a 24-month period ending on January 7, 2021 for its assumption our support obligations
under the A BEEP and Goosetown agreements. We are also obligated to pay the LLC a certain portion of the billed revenue received by the
Company from pdvConnect customers for a 48-month period.
We believe our cash and cash equivalents on hand will be sufficient to meet our financial obligations through at least the next 12 months.Our
future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including: the timeline and results of our FCC initiatives; activities related to the
commercializing our spectrum assets and our ability to sign customer contracts; the costs to retune our spectrum and relocate incumbents to
qualify for broadband licenses; the costs of any additional spectrum we elect to purchase; the costs and ongoing obligations related to our former
TeamConnect and pdvConnect businesses; the revenues we generate from royalties we may receive from our agreements we entered into with
the buyers of our TeamConnect and our pdvConnect businesses; and our ability to control our operating expenses.
See “Risk Factors” in this Form 10-Q for risks and uncertainties that could cause our costs to be more than we currently anticipate and/or our
revenue and operating results to be lower than we currently anticipate.
Off-balance sheet arrangements
As of September 30, 2019 and March 31, 2019, we did not have and do not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial
partnerships that were established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in the rules and regulations of the
SEC.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Our financial instruments consist of cash, cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and accounts payable. We consider investments in highly
liquid instruments purchased with original maturities of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest
income sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. However, because of the short-term nature of the
highly liquid instruments in our portfolio, a 10% change in market interest rates would not be expected to have a material impact on our
financial condition and/or results of operations.
Our operations are based in the United States and, accordingly, all of our transactions are denominated in U.S. dollars. We are currently not
exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on that evaluation, our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective
as of September 30, 2019 because of a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting that remains in the process of being
remediated as discussed below.
Material Weakness and Remedial Actions
As we previously disclosed, subsequent to filing our Form 10-K for year ended March 31, 2018 with the SEC on June 5, 2018, an error was
discovered related to our interpretation and application of the effective dates of changes in the accounting treatment of our net operating losses in
accordance with the new tax laws instituted by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, which was signed into law on December 22, 2017 (the
“TCJA”). As a result of this error, we filed a Form 10-Q/A for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2017 and a Form 10-K/A for the year
ended March 31, 2018 with the SEC on August 10, 2018 to amend and restate our financial statements for those periods.
In our Form 10-K/A, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, determined that this error in
interpretation and application of the new tax laws instituted by the TCJA, which was not detected timely by management, was the result of an
inadequate design of controls pertaining to our review and analysis of changing tax legislation. As a result, they determined that this deficiency
represented a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. They also concluded that we did not maintain effective
disclosure controls and procedures as of March 31, 2018 due to this material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting.
A material weakness is defined as a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis. A material weakness will not be deemed to be remediated until management has implemented the remedial policies and
procedures and there has been sufficient time to test the new controls to determine that the material weakness has been remediated.
To remediate the material weakness related to new tax laws, our management: (i) implemented new controls designed to evaluate the
appropriateness of our income tax policies and procedures, (ii) put into place additional training programs focused on new tax legislation and
(iii) implemented policies and procedures regarding the review and evaluation of tax guidelines published by the major accounting firms.
In evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures for the quarter ended September 30, 2019, our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, believe that we have put in place the proper policies, procedures and controls to remediate the material
weakness, which will be tested during our annual internal control assessment for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020.
Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls or our
internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control system
must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of
the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud
will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that
judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design
of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Projections of any evaluation of controls effectiveness to
future periods are subject to risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
We are not involved in any material legal proceedings.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
In evaluating us and our common stock, we urge you to carefully consider the risks (including those disclosed below) and other information in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as well as the risk factors disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
2019, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on May 20, 2019 (the “Form 10-K”) and our Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019, filed with the SEC on August 8, 2019 (the “First Quarter Form 10-Q”). There have been no material
changes from the risk factors as previously disclosed in our Form 10-K, as amended and supplemented by our First Quarter Form 10-Q. Any of
the risks discussed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, in our Form 10-K or in our First Quarter Form 10-Q, as well as additional risks
and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial, could materially and adversely affect our results of
operations or financial condition.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
Use of Proceeds
On May 18, 2015, we completed a public offering of our common stock in which we raised net proceeds of approximately $64.8 million. We
registered the shares of common stock issued in the offering on a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-203681), which the SEC
declared effective on May 12, 2015. Through September 30, 2019 we have used approximately $38.9 million of the net proceeds from this
offering. We did not complete any transaction in which we paid any of these proceeds, directly or indirectly, to our directors or officers, to any
person owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities, to any associate of any of the foregoing, or to any of our affiliates. There has
been no material change in the expected uses of the net proceeds from the offering as described in our Registration Statement.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information.
Not applicable.
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Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibit
No.

3.1(1)
3.2(2)
3.3(3)
4(4)
4.1(1)
31.1
31.2
32.1*
32.2*
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Description of Exhibit

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Anterix Inc. (the “Company”).
Certificate of Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company.
Certificate of Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company.
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company.
Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Company.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

____________
(1)
Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-201156), filed with the SEC on December
19, 2014.
(2)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36827), filed with the SEC on
November 5, 2015.

(3)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36827), filed with the SEC on
August 6, 2019.

(4)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36827), filed with the SEC on June
27, 2017.

*

The certifications furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and will not be
deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the Registrant
specifically incorporates it by reference.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
Anterix Inc.
Date:

November 6, 2019

/s/ Morgan E. O’Brien
Morgan E. O’Brien
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date:

November 6, 2019

/s/ Timothy A. Gray
Timothy A. Gray
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Morgan E. O’Brien, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2019 of Anterix Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
function):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 6, 2019

By: /s/ Morgan E. O’Brien
Morgan E. O’Brien
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, Timothy A. Gray, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2019 of Anterix Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

a)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
function):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 6, 2019

By: /s/ Timothy A. Gray
Timothy A. Gray
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the quarterly report of Anterix Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period endedSeptember 30, 2019 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Morgan E. O’Brien, Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, solely for purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.
Date: November 6, 2019

By: /s/ Morgan E. O’Brien
Morgan E. O’Brien
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided toAnterix Inc. and will be retained by Anterix Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
This certification that accompanies the Report to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is not
to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Anterix Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such
filing.

EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the quarterly report of Anterix Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period endedSeptember 30, 2019, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Timothy A. Gray, Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
certify, solely for purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

Date: November 6, 2019

By: /s/ Timothy A. Gray
Timothy A. Gray
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Anterix Inc. and will be retained by Anterix Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
This certification that accompanies the Report to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is not
to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Anterix Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such
filing.

